**RECEIVED**

**Jul 13 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Florence County

Honorable H. Steven DeBerry IV, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SAMUEL L. MCNEIL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000093

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

SARAH E. SHIPE  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

1.

Whether the trial court erred permitting complainant to remove her prosthetic eyeball in front of the jury because (1) any probative value in the provocative demonstration was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice in violation of Rule 403, SCRE and (2) the inflammatory display necessitated a mistrial?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting two additional photographs of complainant's injuries where appellant was prejudiced by the needlessly cumulative admission of the photographs of complainant's injuries where a nearly identical photograph of her injuries was admitted through expert witness testimony, evidence of her injuries was presented through paramedic's testimony, and evidence of her injuries was presented through complainant's testimony?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 24, 2017, a Florence County grand jury indicted appellant for domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature (DVHAN) and attempted murder. R. 206-07. A pretrial hearing was held on November 7, 2017, before the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr. R. 1. On January 10, 2022, appellant's case was called to trial before the Honorable H. Steven DeBerry IV, and a jury. R. 2. Appellant was represented by Elizabeth Neyle and Emily Crayton. The state was represented by solicitor, Ed Clements and assistant solicitor, Susan McGill. R. 2.

On January 12, 2022, the jury found appellant guilty of domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature. R. 200, ll. 21-23. Judge Deberry sentenced petitioner to twenty years' imprisonment for DVHAN. R. 204, ll. 20-23.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erred permitting complainant to remove her prosthetic eyeball in front of the jury because (1) any probative value in the provocative demonstration was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice in violation of Rule 403, SCRE and (2) the inflammatory display necessitated a mistrial.

### **Standard of review**

#### *Rule 403, SCRE*

The admission of evidence is within the circuit court's discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion.” *State v. Dickerson*, 395 S.C. 101, 116, 716 S.E.2d 895, 903 (2011). “A trial court has particularly wide discretion in ruling on Rule 403 objections.” *State v. Lee*, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012); *see also State v. Dial*, 405 S.C. 247, 260, 746 S.E.2d 495, 502 (Ct. App. 2013) (“A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.”

#### *Mistrial*

A trial judge's decision denying a mistrial will be reversed on appeal if the denial amounts to an abuse of discretion. *State v. Rowlands*, 343 S.C. 454, 458, 539 S.E.2d 717, 719 (Ct. App. 2000). “Whether a mistrial is manifestly necessary is a fact specific inquiry. It is not a mechanically applied standard, but rather is a determination that must be made in the context of the specific difficulty facing the trial judge.” *Id.* at 457–58, 539 S.E.2d at 719 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

### **Relevant facts**

On the evening of December 8, 2016, Tanisia Cunningham drove to appellant’s, her “on-

again, off-again” boyfriend, home. R. 27, l. 20; 141, l. 21-142, l. 6. Cunningham and appellant argued. R. 142, l. 11-143, l. 21. Cunningham sustained serious injuries to her face and her left eyeball from the impact of a beer bottle. R. 91, l. 9-92, l. 21; 139, ll. 4-15. Early the next morning appellant called 911. R. 35, ll. 2-7. Both Cunningham and appellant told emergency personnel and law enforcement that her injuries were self-inflicted in attempt to commit suicide.<sup>1</sup> R. 40, l. 23-41, l. 2; 43, ll. 10-22; 49, ll. 1-6; 52, ll. 14-19; 53, l. 17-14; 105, ll. 12-17; 146, ll. 2-14; state’s exhibit 33, audio recording.<sup>2</sup>

Cunningham’s version of events changed numerous times over the course of the day, and eventually she claimed that appellant struck her in the face with a beer bottle. R. 54, l. 8-55, l. 9; 60, ll. 16-24; 105, l. 21-106, l. 14. Law enforcement returned to appellant’s home, he gave a voluntary statement, and he consented to the search of his home. In appellant’s recorded statement to law enforcement, he maintained that Cunningham injured herself with a beer bottle and revealed that in his attempt to stop Cunningham his hand was injured. R. 56, ll. 19-24; 59, l. 14-60, l. 14.

At trial the state presented testimony from multiple witnesses regarding Cunningham’s injuries. Paramedic, Thomas Mattis testified that when he arrived Cunningham had “several lacerations” above her left eye and on her forehead and “minor abrasions” on both hands. R. 41, l. 24-42, l. 13. Mattis wrote in his report that Cunningham told him her wounds were “self-inflicted.” He also wrote that she told him she hurt herself at nine o’clock the previous evening and that she refused to call 911. R. 43, l. 10-44, l. 1. Officer Kevin Buxton testified that he

---

<sup>1</sup> The state presented conflicting testimony regarding how the 911 call initially came in. Public information officer, Levi James, testified that the call came in as a “sick person,” call. R. 33. Officer Kevin Buxton testified that he responded to a “possible attempted suicide.” R. 46.

<sup>2</sup> State’s exhibit 33, audio recording is on file with the Court.

arrived before paramedics and was told by appellant that Cunningham hit herself with a beer bottle. R. 48, l. 16-49, l. Buxton contended Cunningham was upset and did not say much at the home. Later in the day, Buxton interviewed Cunningham at the hospital, and he stated she gave “numerous different accounts” and changed her story several times.<sup>3</sup> R. 54, ll. 8-11. Cunningham asked to be put under an alias at the hospital and eventually told Buxton that appellant hit her in the face with a beer bottle during an argument. R. 54, ll. 14-15; 55, ll. 2-9.

Doctor Howard Farrell, the state’s expert in facial trauma, treated Cunningham at the hospital. R. 90, ll. 9-16; 91, ll. 1-5. Doctor Farrell closed the lacerations on Cunningham’s face. R. 92-93. Farrell noted that Cunningham had “complex” facial lacerations on her forehead, brow, and eyelid; and she had significant injury to her left eyeball. R. 91, ll. 11-24. He opined that Cunningham’s injuries were “serious,” and that while not likely to cause death the loss of her eyeball was a permanent loss of the function of a bodily member or organ. R. 92, ll. 19-21; 96, ll. 15-25. Farrell testified that Cunningham was transferred to the Medical University of South Carolina hospital to receive further treatment to her severe eyeball injury. R. 96, ll. 10-12.

Doctor George Magrath, the state’s expert in ophthalmology, treated Cunningham’s eyeball injury. R. 135, l. 21-136, l. 2; 136, ll. 9-22. Doctor Magrath diagnosed Cunningham with a “ruptured globe” and “eyelid lacerations.” R. 136. Initially the goal of her treatment was to bring back vision to the damaged eyeball, but Magrath later determined there was nothing that could be done to restore vision to that eye. Later Cunningham reported that her eyeball was causing pain and she underwent surgery to remove her left eyeball and later she had a prosthetic eyeball surgically placed. R. 137-38. Magrath opined that Cunningham’s injuries were “serious” and constituted the loss of function of a bodily member or organ where she not only

---

<sup>3</sup> Buxton testified that he utilized his body worn camera during the investigation but that the footage had been deleted. R. 58, ll. 2-19; 61, ll. 7-9.

lost her vision but the eyeball itself. R. 139, ll. 4-14.

Cunningham testified that she drove to appellant's house that evening. She said that they argued, and he accused her of infidelity. R. 141-142. Cunningham claimed she got in her car in an attempt to leave and appellant got in the car with her. R. 143, ll. 19-25. In the car appellant slapped her and grabbed her wig off her head. Cunningham stated that appellant took her mobile phone and smashed it on the ground. R. 144, ll. 1-25. Cunningham claimed appellant went to her door, removed her from the car, and struck her in the head with a beer bottle. R. 146, ll. 1-10. Cunningham testified after the fight appellant took her inside his home to lay down and she was treated by paramedics early the next morning. R. 146-47.

During Cunningham's testimony the solicitor asked her to step down from the witness box to show her "scarring" to the jury and she complied. R. 151, ll. 15-23. Following that the solicitor asked Cunningham if her prosthetic eyeball was "easily removable" and then requested she remove her prosthetic eyeball for the jury. R. 152, ll. 4-9. Defense counsel objected and the jury was sent out of the courtroom. Defense counsel argued that it was completely inappropriate and unduly prejudicial, having nothing to do with the offense. Counsel made a motion for a mistrial stating that the prejudice from this demonstration could not be cured. R. 152, l. 10-153, l. 1.

The solicitor asserted it was necessary for Cunningham to remove her prosthetic eyeball to prove the great bodily injury element of DVHAN. R. 153, ll. 2-7. The trial court ruled that the line of questioning and request of Cunningham was admissible and denied defense counsel's motion for mistrial. The court found that because great bodily injury is an element of DVHAN and because the jury would be instructed it could believe *or* disregard witness' testimony that the state's request that Cunningham remove her eyeball in front of the jury was "acceptable." R.

154, l. 4-55, l. 8.

## **Discussion**

Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence provides that even relevant evidence “may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Rule 403, SCRE. Evidence is unfairly prejudicial if it has an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis, such as an emotional one. *State v. Martucci*, 380 S.C. 232, 669 S.E.2d 598 (S.C. App. 2008); *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827, (S.C. 2001).

The trial court erred in permitting the removal of Cunningham’s prosthetic eyeball during her testimony where there was no probative value in the display and it was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. The state offered ample evidence that Cunningham’s injuries qualified as “great bodily injury,” under the statute.<sup>4</sup> Two expert witnesses, Doctor Farrell and Doctor Magrath, opined about the severity of Cunningham’s injuries. Doctor Farrell testified regarding the complex lacerations to Cunningham’s face stating that if untreated she would have suffered “more scarring and disfigurement.” He also agreed that the loss of her eyeball constituted the permanent loss of a function of a bodily member or organ. R. 96, ll. 15-25. Doctor Magrath testified that he “absolutely” considered Cunningham’s injuries to be loss of function of a bodily member or organ and permanent disfigurement because she not only lost her vision in that eye, but she lost the eyeball itself. R. 139, ll. 4-15. Cunningham’s testimony that she “lost her left eye” and that she had scarring corroborated the expert testimony. R. 151, ll. 6-14. Cunningham also displayed the scarring on her face and head to the jury right before the state asked her to remove her prosthetic eyeball. R. 151, ll. 15-24.

---

<sup>4</sup> “Great bodily injury” means bodily injury which causes a substantial risk of death or which causes serious, permanent disfigurement or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-10.

While it was necessary for the state to show evidence to prove the element of great bodily injury in cases of DVHAN, the seriousness of Cunningham’s injuries were evident without the state’s improper appeal to the emotions of the jury by requesting she remove her prosthetic eyeball during her testimony. *See generally Johnson v. State*, 433 S.C. 550, 559, 860 S.E.2d 696, 701 (Ct. App. 2021) (stating Rule 403, SCRE “. . . forbids ‘unfair prejudice,’ and its balancing test enables the trial court to temper the risk that evidence will exert such a pull on the jurors' emotions that it overwhelms their ability to rationally and impartially weigh the evidence and apply the law to the facts..”).

Additionally, this case hinged on the jury’s determination of whether appellant or Cunningham herself inflicted the injuries, notably the defense never contested that her injuries constituted great bodily injury as defined under the DVHAN statute. The jury was likely shocked by the inflammatory display, Cunningham removing her prosthetic eyeball, and the erroneous admission of this act at trial created “an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis.” *See State v. Jackson*, 364 S.C. 329, 334, 613 S.E.2d 374, 376 (2005) (quoting *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991)). The trial court abused its discretion by allowing this demonstration where its only purpose was to create an emotional response in the jurors.

A mistrial should only be granted when absolutely necessary, and a defendant must show both error and prejudice in order to be entitled to a mistrial. *Id.* “Insubstantial errors that do not impact the result of the case do not warrant a mistrial when guilt is conclusively proven by competent evidence.” *State v. White*, 371 S.C. 439, 447–48, 639 S.E.2d 160, 164 (Ct. App. 2006) (emphasis added). “The determination of prejudice must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case.” *Id.* at 447, 639 S.E.2d at 164.

“Among the factors to be considered in ordering a mistrial are the character of the testimony, the circumstances under which it was offered, the nature of the case, and the other testimony in the case.” *State v. Howard*, 296 S.C. 481, 483, 374 S.E.2d 284, 285 (1988). Refusal to grant a mistrial is not an abuse of discretion where there is other overwhelming evidence of guilt and the trial judge instructs the jury to disregard the testimony at issue. *State v. Howard*, 296 S.C. 481, 374 S.E.2d 284 (1988).

Here, the trial court’s admission of this inflammatory display, where appellant’s guilt was not conclusively proven by competent evidence, was error. *See White*, 371 S.C. at 447-48, 639 S.E.2d at 164. This was a case that turned on whether the jury believed Cunningham’s final version of events or the one version that both parties initially gave to emergency personnel and that appellant never wavered from. The state used this shocking demonstration to distract the jury from the reality that they had a weak case. The only evidence that pointed to appellant’s guilt was Cunningham’s testimony which was much different than her prior statements to medical personnel and law enforcement.

Although, “[a] curative instruction to disregard incompetent evidence and not to consider it during deliberation is deemed to have cured any alleged error in its admission.” *State v. Walker*, 366 S.C. 643, 658, 623 S.E.2d 122, 130 (Ct.App.2005). In this case no curative instruction was given where the trial court found the contested evidence, Cunningham removing her prosthetic eyeball during her testimony, more probative than prejudicial and therefore admissible. The trial court’s error in denying appellant’s motion for a mistrial after the jury was subjected to the inflammatory display, Cunningham’s removal of her prosthetic eyeball, “adversely affect[ed] [appellant’s] right to a fair trial, and this Court should reverse. *See White*, 371 S.C. at 448, 639 S.E.2d at 164 (2006).

2. The trial court erred in admitting two additional photographs of complainant's injuries where appellant was prejudiced by the needlessly cumulative admission of the photographs of complainant's injuries where a nearly identical photograph of her injuries was admitted through expert witness testimony, evidence of her injuries was presented through paramedic's testimony, and evidence of her injuries was presented through complainant's testimony.

### **Standard of review**

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*; see also *State v. Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

### **Relevant facts**

During pretrial motions defense counsel challenged admission of state's exhibits 18 and 21, photographs of Cunningham's face depicting her injuries. Defense counsel asserted that the state was seeking to introduce three extremely similar photographs of Cunningham's face and that the defense was not challenging state's exhibit 29, photograph that would be admitted during Doctor Farrell's testimony. However, counsel contended state's exhibits 18 and 21 were cumulative and prejudicial where they showed Cunningham's face from the same angle as state's exhibit 29.<sup>5</sup> R. 15, ll. 1-13; 16, ll. 7-14.

The court determined that the photographs showed Cunningham's facial injury from different distances and because there were only *two* additional photographs, if the state laid

---

<sup>5</sup> State's exhibits 18, 21, and 29 are on file with this Court.

proper foundation, the photographs were not cumulative or prejudicial. R. 16, l. 17-, 17, l. 4.

During Doctor Howard's testimony he identified state's exhibit 29, photograph of Cunningham's face, and described it as showing the "closed lacerations." He testified that the photograph showed the way Cunningham looked after treatment. R. 94, ll. 1-24.

Officer Buxton was recalled and shown state's exhibit 18, photograph of Cunningham's face. He identified the photograph and stated that is the way Cunningham looked when he arrived at appellant's home. R. 85, 8-16. Defense counsel objected to the admission arguing there was a lack of foundation, and the court overruled the objection. R. 85, ll. 21-24. Buxton testified that the photograph showed "the severity of the injuries" Cunningham sustained as well as the amount of blood that was present at the scene. R. 86, ll14-18.

During Investigator Sheldon Shelley's testimony state's exhibit 21, photograph of Cunningham's face was admitted over defense counsel's objection. Shelley testified that it was a photograph of Cunningham taken on the day of her arrival to the hospital and that it showed significant injury to her face. R. 104

## **Discussion**

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. Rule 403, SCRE.

The trial court erred by admitting state's 18 and 21, photographs of Cunningham's injuries where the probative value of these images was very low, and the images were a needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

In *State v. Stephens*, this Court held that the evidence of the photographic lineup of

Stephens was not needlessly cumulative where the state had already put up a witness who identified Stephens. 398 S.C. 314, 320-21, 728 S.E.2d 68, 72 (Ct. App. 2012). In *Stephens* the Court stated that “the *central theme* of Stephens’s defense was discrediting the witness identification of Stephens in the second photographic lineup.” *Id.* (emphasis added). The Court found that because Stephens’s defense was so focused on attacking the witness’ identification of Stephens it increased the probative value of the contested lineup and meant that it was not needlessly cumulative. *Id.*

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