RECEIVED

Jul 28 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Florence County
Honorable H. Steven DeBerry IV, Circuit Court Judge

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

vs.

SAMUEL LEE MCNEIL,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2022-000093

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

chaopCalDe

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

E. L. CLEMENTS, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit
180 N. Irby St.
Florence, SC 29501
(843) 665-3091

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

The Missouri Court of Appeals found the victim's scars from the gunshot wounds inflicted by the defendant were relevant to prove the "disfigurement" requirement to show "serious physical injury" for first degree assault. State v. Fuller, 837 S.W.2d 304, 307 (Mo. Ct. App. 1992). Further, the court rejected the defendant's argument that the display of the scar was not needed because hospital records and testimony sufficiently established the serious physical injury element of the offense. The court further noted the prosecution was not required to accept the defendant's offer to stipulate but could present "relevant, probative evidence" to the jury. Id. at 307-08.

In State v. Scotchel, 285 S.E.2d 384, 390 (W.V. 1981), the West Virginia Supreme Court rejected a comparison of the display of a scar to gruesome photographs: "In the first place, a scar is not necessarily gruesome in appearance. A scar represents the present actual condition which is relevant to the issue of intent to cause permanent disability or disfigurement, while a gruesome photograph depicts the initial and temporary extent of the wound. In the latter, the shock effect often outweighs the probative value of the evidence."

There is at least once case on point: The Indiana Court of Appeals found the removal of a prosthetic eye admissible in Bowman v. State, 73 N.E.2d 731 (Ind. Ct. App. 2017). In that case, the trial court required the prosecution proffer the victim's removal of the prosthetic eye in camera so the trial court could assess its prejudicial impact. Afterwards, the trial court ruled it would allow the victim to remove her prosthetic eye before the jury and made the observation that the impact was limited, comparing victim's removal of the prosthetic eye to removal of a contact, "although with a

little more effort.” The trial court noted the victim handled the removal in an appropriate way: “[T]he way she did it, to me does not look like it would inflame the jury.” Id. at 733.

As in the present case, the defendant argued the removal of the prosthetic eye was unfairly prejudicial. The defendant pointed to the photographic evidence documenting the injury to argue the demonstration was unnecessary. Also like the instant case, the battery offense for which the defendant was being tried required a showing the battery caused the “protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ.” Id. at 735. The Indiana court noted that while photographs depicted the injury on the day of the crime, the prosecution was required to prove a “protracted” loss of the eye and “not merely an injury on the day of the incident.” Id. at 736. “Even though a ‘conventional alternative’ was already in front of the jury, the State still **needed** the live demonstration to carry its burden of proof.” Id. (emphasis added). Finding the trial court properly balanced the probative effect against the danger of prejudice, the Indiana court found the trial court did not err. Id.

As in Bowman, the removal of the prosthetic eye, to reveal Victim’s permanent disfigurement, could not be more relevant as it proved the existence of the protracted injury still existed on the day of the trial. It was especially probative, and unlike the testimony of the two doctors, it was physical evidence. As in Bowman, the evidence was probative of an element of the offense.

Appellant offers only conclusory arguments to claim Appellant was prejudiced. “‘Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis.’” State v. Stephens, 398 S.C. 314, 728 S.E.2d 68, 71-72 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 665 S.E.2d 201, 206 [Ct.App.2008]). “Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which

tends to suggest decision on an improper basis.” State v. Dennis, 402 S.C. 627, 636, 742 S.E.2d 21, 26 (Ct. App. 2013) (internal quotation marks omitted). “All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only **unfair** prejudice which must be [scrutinized under Rule 403].” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct.App.1998) (emphasis in the original) (*quoting* United States v. Rodriguez-Estrada, 877 F.2d 153, 156 (1st Cir.1989)).

Lacking in the instant case is any attempt by defense counsel to describe the removal of the prosthetic eye or to articulate any action by the Victim to inflame the jury. Defense counsel failed to explain for the cold record why it was prejudicial. See Calderon v. California, 525 U.S. 141, 146 (1998) (“The social costs of retrial or resentencing are significant. . . . The State is not to be put to this arduous task based on mere speculation that the defendant was prejudiced by trial error; the court must find that the defendant was actually prejudiced by the error.” (citations omitted)); Von Moltke v. Fillies, 332 U.S. 708, 740 (1948) (“The aid to the ascertainment of the truth to be derived from the trial court’s impartial observation of the witnesses should not be dissipated in the process of review. His appraisal of the living record is entitled to proportionately more, rather than less, reliance the further the reviewing court is removed from the scene of the trial.”). Bowman shows the removal of the prosthetic eye may be done in an appropriate and in a less than graphic fashion. Appellant fails to show anything more happened than described in Bowman. Instead Appellant counts on this Court to cast aside its necessary reliance on the trial court’s discretion and to use its own imagination to find Victim’s removal of her prosthetic eye would inflame the jury. However, the record fails to demonstrate prejudice or an abuse of discretion by the trial court.

II.

Defense counsel only objected to one photograph, not two, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding one additional photograph was not needlessly cumulative. The probative value of the photograph was not outweighed by the danger from its purported cumulative effect. Further, Appellant was not prejudiced by the additional photograph and any error was harmless.

Appellant's brief is factually inaccurate because it depicts the arguments and rulings over the admissibility of both State's Exhibit 18 and State's Exhibit 21. However, defense counsel only objected to one photograph (Exhibit 21) as being needlessly cumulative and the trial court ruled one additional photograph was not needlessly cumulative. Defense counsel did not argue that the two photographs were cumulative to State's Exhibit 29. The photographs are not identical as claimed by Appellant but are probative for different reasons and not needlessly cumulative to each other. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in its Rule 403, SCRE, ruling, and Appellant was not prejudiced by the challenged photograph's admission.

The challenge below was over whether to admit one extra photograph.

Prior to trial, defense counsel notified the trial court she had the opportunity to look at the State's photographs the State intended to introduce "today" and had a problem with only one photograph. R. 14. p. 43, lines 11-15. Defense counsel explained the State was attempting to introduce three photographs of Victim's face. Defense counsel explained that one would be introduced through the doctor [State's Exhibit 29], and defense counsel was not challenging that photograph.

Defense counsel then explained her challenge:

One of the ones that I am challenging, there is picture No. 18, State's Exhibit 18, and State's 21. They are both pictures of the victim's face in the exact same angle, Your Honor. I just believe **that one**

extra photo of the exact same angle would be cumulative and prejudicial, Your Honor.

R. p. 15, lines 7-13.

The prosecutor noted the State's high burden of proving great bodily injury and explained one picture was at the crime scene before Victim was treated and one picture shows the course of treatment at the hospital. The prosecutor explained each picture depicted "a little bit different injuries" R. p. 15, line 19 – p. 16, line 5.

Defense counsel argued the second picture at the hospital (State's Exhibit 21) shows untreated wounds and argued that Exhibits 18 and 21 were the same and cumulative to each other. R. p. 16, lines 11-14. The trial court found the pictures were from a different distance and did not think **a single** additional photograph was cumulative. R. p. 16, lines 17-21. The trial court added the photographs were "in a little bit different light." R. p. 16, lines 22-23. The trial court did not think the additional photograph was prejudicial. R. p. 17.

State's Exhibit 18 was admitted at trial through Officer Buxton. Officer Buxton viewed the photograph and confirmed it showed the way Victim looked when Officer Buxton arrived at Appellant's residence. R. p. 85. The only objection was to foundation on the basis that Officer Buxton did not take the picture. R. p. 85. The picture was admitted because Officer Buxton provided a sufficient foundation by confirming that the picture showed the way Victim looked when Officer Buxton arrived at Appellant's house. R. p. 86. Officer Buxton noted the picture not only depicted the severity of Victim's injuries, but also showed "the amount of blood that was all over the bed and on the different items that were on the bed." R. p. 86, lines 14-18.

Exhibit 29 was admitted without objection after being identified by Dr. Farrell. Dr. Farrell explained that the picture depicted Victim after Dr. Farrell closed all Victim's lacerations. R. p. 94.

Exhibit 21, the challenged photograph, was admitted through Sergeant Shelley. Sergeant Shelley did not respond to the crime scene, but instead responded to McLeod Hospital where Victim was already admitted. R. p. 102. The prosecution asked Sergeant Shelley his initial impressions of Victim's injuries and defense counsel objected "because he's not a doctor." R. p. 103. The prosecution instead showed Sergeant Shelley State's Exhibit 21, which Sergeant Shelley identified as showing how Victim appeared when Sergeant Shelley responded to the hospital. Defense counsel asked the trial court to note counsel's prior objection and the photograph was admitted into evidence. R. pp. 103-04. Sergeant Shelley testified that after observing the injuries, he asked her how she attained them and she claimed they were self-inflicted. R. p. 105. That story changed after she asked to be admitted under an alias and then needed to explain why. R. pp. 105-06. Therefore, Exhibit 21 was probative because the jury could see what Victim looked like when Sergeant Shelley spoke with Victim at the hospital. Sergeant Shelley did not see Victim at the crime scene, so he would not be able to authenticate State's Exhibit 18.

State's Exhibit 21 is not needlessly cumulative to State's Exhibit 18.

State's Exhibits 18 and 21 both depict Victim when her injuries were relatively fresh, but the similarity mostly ends there. In Exhibit 18, Victim is looking downward, and so the injury to her eye is not readily visible. In Exhibit 21, the eye socket is visible, which is important since the State was proving the protracted loss of Victim's eye to prove serious bodily injury. Exhibit 21 provides a closer view of Victim's injuries. Exhibit 18 is probative because it shows Victim at the bloody crime scene before being treated at the hospital.

For evidence to be admissible, it must be relevant. Rule 402, SCRE. Relevant evidence is "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence."

Rule 401, SCRE. “Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears, and it is not required that the inference sought should necessarily follow from the fact proved.” State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 126-27, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004). Relevant evidence may be excluded where its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE; State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 210, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006). Further, evidence may be excluded under Rule 403 on the basis that the evidence confuses the issues, misleads the jury, or based on considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. Rule 403, SCRE.

A trial court’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. McLeod, 362 S.C. 73, 81, 606 S.E.2d 215, 219 (Ct. App. 2004). The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of photographic evidence, like other evidence, is within the sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Kelly, 319 S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). The trial court does not abuse its discretion if the photographs serve to corroborate testimony. State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 481 S.E.2d 118 (1997); State v. Nance, 320 S.C. 501, 508, 466 S.E.2d 349, 353 (1996) (“If the offered photograph serves to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it.”).

Appellant misstates the issue raised below. Appellant did not object to both Exhibits 18 and 21, but merely wanted the trial court to force the State to choose only one of those two exhibits in addition to State’s Exhibit 29. Note counsel only made a weak foundation objection to State’s Exhibit 18 and did not renew any prior objection. Appellant did renew the objection to State’s Exhibit 21.

Appellant, in his brief, compares the two exhibits to State’s Exhibit 29. The trial court and the attorneys never compared Exhibits 18 and 21 to Exhibit 29 because defense counsel already

indicated she would not object to Exhibit 29.

Appellant argues, “The court determined that the photographs showed [Victim’s] facial injury from different distances and because there were **only two additional photographs**, . . .” Br. of App. p. 11. This is misleading, the trial court’s actual ruling noted, “You know, **it being one additional photograph**, you know, as long as there’s a proper foundation laid, I don’t think it’s cumulative.” R. p. 16, lines 19-21. That is because the motion was to keep out Exhibit 21 as cumulative to Exhibit 18. Defense counsel was not moving to exclude both State’s Exhibits 18 and 21.

The only authority McNeil relies on is State v. Stephens, 398 S.C. 314, 728 S.E.2d 68, 71-72 (Ct. App. 2012). This Court found a second photographic array was not needlessly cumulative to the first array chiefly because Stephens’ defense was to discredit the eyewitness identifications. A review of the opinion in Stephens does not suggest a reason why the trial court in the instant case erred, and therefore is not useful authority to support Appellant’s argument for reversal.

Appellant points out that his defense was the incredible claim that Victim inflicted these injuries on herself. The photographs themselves discredit Appellant’s story precisely because of the severity and extent of injuries. As Dr. Farrell opined, those injuries were not self-inflicted, and the jury using its common sense and looking at State’s Exhibits 18 and 21, were more likely to reach that conclusion, so the photographs were probative. Therefore, State’s 21 (the only objection preserved for review) was probative and not unduly prejudicial because it showed the eye injury (unlike Exhibit 18) before treatment (unlike Exhibit 29).

Even if the trial court abused its discretion, the error was harmless. The additional photograph, in addition to all the other the pictures showing the injuries and the blood, is unlikely to have affected the verdict. See State’s Exhibits 5-10; 12-16; 19-20; 22-28. Especially in light of the

overwhelming evidence of guilt and Appellant's absurd claim that those injuries were self-inflicted.

“When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989). “Harmless error rules . . . ‘serve a very useful purpose insofar as they block setting aside convictions for small errors or defects that have little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial.’” State v. White, 410 S.C. 56, 59, 762 S.E.2d 726, 728 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 22 (1967)). The harmless error doctrine preserves the central purpose of a criminal trial, which is to decide the factual question of a defendant's guilt or innocence. State v. Rivera, 402 S.C. 225, 246, 741 S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013) (citing Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 306-08 (1991)).

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